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PREFACE

The topie e£ this paper, "Elizabethsn Poveign Policy- 1567~
1585“,(evelvad £eum an sttempt to analyse Anglo-Spanish relations
duging the same period. The inta:relat@dnese of the rgligioua
éﬁd éoiitzcal prnbi&ma gmong the méjar povers of tha’period
led this suthor frequently inta considerations outside the
original sphare of interast. while the topic was expanded ia
scope, it should be noted that the paper sttempts to deal only
with the mors aignificant factors affecting English foreign
policy and does not pretend to illuminate the complex and
charging national situstions elsewhere, Spacific ayternal
events ave introduced only when they dirvectly affect Elizsbethan
foreign policy considarations,

One precaution must be noted in conjunction with the dates,
Throughout the paper, old style calendar dates have been converted
to conform with theé new style calendar, (This affected only
those dataes between Mareh 25th, and Januery lst whic& were
increased one year by &hevconversiengj Alsa; it should be
noted that the old Engli#h spelling and p@nctuation was retained
in certain quotations for f£lavor.

A sincere ezpression of thanks ig due to Dr. John R.

Rilling whose brillisnt lactures s&imﬁlatad interest in this
period, and-whaae eriticism and advice pxwved.zavaluable° The
ald of the librerians of the Virginia Historical Society in
securing primary seurce'matariaieu and of Miss Mary C. Cl¢rk
in proof-reading the fimal draft is greatly appreciated.

(1) |



Gratitude is also eat@néeﬁ i:a the Richmond City Fazbiic
Schools for grammg pe the smdy ﬁurlm,gh which ellowed ma to
perﬁeam this eaem'ch. -?i.nally, to—m:,r parc.nts, ﬁx. wad w:e. ‘
lannie m ﬁwppw, fez' aﬁﬁotdmg i m:h the cppartunis;y to
pursue my educai:wag and w my husband, C*wzﬂea m Reymlés, |

for his aid and encwmgamntg 4 am dec.ply g'zata.iul.

(i1)



- CHAPTER I: DBCISION MAKING

‘Elizabethan foreign policy has been characterized as shifting
withk:he winds. Indeed, it has been:statéd thatAﬁlizabeth‘hdd no
policy. Actually What;appea:s to have been?éacillating,indecisién
might more accuratély be described aafdeliberace»flexibilitf.l Ip
tracing the course of Elizabethan foreign policy from 1567 to 1585,
a period marked by continuing crisis and overt hostilities among
the foremoét Eyropean povers, the astuteness of the Queen in not
adhering to ghe rig;d pd;iqigs advocated by certain of her coun~
éellors becbmes.apparen:;r_xn making decisions in.thésektgrbulentib
days, the Queen ééa»gui&éd not by prequ#ﬁlatg& policy directivés;
but by sagacity.riéhé aﬁélyzed every siﬁﬁéiicﬁ parefuily;”studyiﬁg
the aiternatives.#nd‘wéighing‘the>proposalé:éf her varicus-counsellors;
before at;empting t6 make a decision,

Under the framework of Tudor government, the responsibility

for making decisions in thé realm of foréigﬁ affairs ultimately

rested with the sovereigh, vho was aided by the Privy Council.
Elizabeth determined to accept this responéibility and from the
beginning of her reign displayed both great interest and eptitude~

not just in the impcrtant considerations of formulating particular

paliciés, but also in the everyday details of State, such as the

going over of incoming and outgoing correépondence which might have

' v 2
been handled completely by her secretaries, Her Renaissance



education in 11nguistics;proved to be bighly advantageous as she
sought to convarse directly with many ofughe foreign ambassadors
in Latin, French,fand‘lgalign since Engliah was not at that time
considered a language of.diplomacy.3

The fact th&t Elizabeth was the unmarried Queen of a reszim
whose fate affecteé the destiny of all éffEurope? removed her
choice of a husband from the purely peréqhal sphere and made it
an important cansidera:;on‘pf State, thi#, pressed to advantagé,
served to involvg,her,ingxtticably in.foreign affairs. Clearly,
cOurtshié becama he? trump card in thelﬁrééarious game of European
diplomacy.4 » | )

Thg role of the Privy Council in foreign pclicy wag advisory.
It derived its authority from the monarch,"Thevgreat bulk of its
work was in the handling of the details of admiﬁistration, as the
Register of the Privy Council reveals.SM Only in extreme criges
when the qﬁestion of war or peace was to bg decided did Elizabeth
consult with the Council as a bcdy.6 ‘She §raferred to give audience
to her counsellors individually, on thé prigﬁiple of_"ﬁivide and rule".
Since there was seldqm any unanimity of opinion within the gtoup,-she‘
could depend upon ﬁeariné several points of view, and then selecting
the one which best‘suited her own purposes._kHigh questions of policy
were often debated by inner circles of advisors who sought to‘influeﬁce.
the Queen during informal audiences at court functions.

From the ranks of this inner cirqlekéf,adVisors steps the most
influential, able, énd devoted of Elizabeth's counsellors, Sir

William Cecil, her principal Secretary for fourteen years. Perhaps



his success may be explained in terms of his demonstrated adminis-

trative ability,  "His capacity for work, his care for detail, his

grasp of difficulties, amounEéd to genius; and if ever there was
a perfect minister, it was he.“g' This diligence inyadhiniatrative
details is evident in his very precise, and thorough memoranda
and minutes which have been pteserved;lo

The rela:innship thét evolved betweenvCecil and the Queen may
be defined as a part#erSBiE; however, ﬁéfa1§§ys remaiﬁéduthé:devoted
servant and she the'migtress. Although,‘aiwa§sxeagerito'ad§ise he#,
he never attempted to dominate her, andiéven’he éould‘héver rea11y
predict her actions. As she became indfé#sihgly‘awarekof ﬁis many
talents, she relied on his "wide knoﬁledge;aﬁé worldly wisdom" to
temper "her feminine impulses’ and "hef.vérSatility forced him to
cast off the shackles‘qf’precedent.“ll “fbgether they‘forged their
own policy, unhampered by established pf&cédﬁfes, relying sometimes
on orthodoxy, frequeﬂtl&*bn flirtations,’cbﬁsi&ering sometimes
feligious factors and at other times weighing secular éonsiderations N
ﬁore heavily, and always allowing themééivé; to be guided by the
exigencies of the situatioﬁ. During'his':énure as secretarﬁ, it WOpld
be impossible to COﬁclude whether she did more to influence him or

12
he to influence her.

Contemporaries of William Cecil supﬁorc this point of view
regarding his eupiﬁehce.. Indeed, it iévtfulyfamazing that he was
80 highly‘regarded by so many rival caﬁps.' Fenelgn, the French
Ambassador, and De Spes, the Spanish Ambassador, both agreed that

he was the dominant figure in the Council. De Spes commented in



'1569: "The Queen's own opinion s of little importance and that
of the Earl of leicester still less, so that Cecil unrestrainedly
and arrogantly'gvvarns 311."13 A similar opinion was reflected by
De Guaras, serving the Duke of Alva in an unofficial capacity in
Janusry of 1572, when he remarked: "It is'Burghley who rules the
" whole of tha'Country",14 and again on October 12th when he reported;
"The best Counsellor of all of them is Lord Bﬁrghiey as he follows
the will and bent of the Queen, and he is supreme in the country and
in the Queen's estimation.“15 ‘Mendoza who was in the service of
Spain in 1581, regarded Cecil as the most important of all the
counsellors also, while the Prench Ambassador at that time, Mauvissisre,
paid him an even greater compliment in declaring that he was ‘most
eiempt from all passions save for the service and honor of his ﬁiétress."
Strangely enough, both men felt that he was their best friend at Courc.16
Even Cecil's foremost rival, leicester, resentfully admitted to his
influencé when he cold‘?éneléh that Cecil was more the king than
Elizabeth the‘quaen~17

Even after Cecil was elevated to the peerage on February 25,
1571, as Baron Burghley, he reluctantly held on to his position as

18 S ,
He was to attain additionsl

first secretary for another year.
povers in accepting the position of lord Treasurer, however, as

he directed and managed all royal revenues and expendicufes and
exercised ¢ontrai over Crown lands. He was also to have extensive
appointive power in this’department.lg It 18 important to note that

even after relinquishing the title of Principal Secretary, Burghley



still managed to direct the affairs of State. His successor, Sir
Thomas Smith. certainly did not displace him as ia obvious by his
comments to Burghley on October 15, 1572: "I well preceive her
Highness is disposed to sign nothing except your lordship be here....
Your hasty going hence hath wade as sppeareth, all things here turn
backwards., I hava somewhat ado to get to the Queen and more to
get anything signed... I perceive, until that your Lordship come
agﬁin, will be no good done'“zov The change of office served to
relieve Burghley of the crushing load of administrative details,
but in no way lessened his role of advising the Queen. Elizabeth
became increasingly dependent on him for advice and would rarely
take action before consulting him, He had becoms a unique figure
in the.Coﬁrt,‘and his position and influence, secure without riva1.21
Perhaps ' the genius in Burghley's atatesmanship and the reasons
for his unrivaled iﬁfluence can best be seen if one examines his
memoranda.?z He often stated several courses of action and presented
the pros and cons of each {n detail, gﬁen if he favored one over the
other, He won the Queen's confidence as being a "dispassionate
judge" and found tha€ ha‘cou1d acheive more by not directly opposing
the royal posi:icn.w Appropriately, Burghley has been called the.
"master of the art of the possible” and his actions often represented
& c&mpromisa betweén his own desired course of actions and that which
the Queen favored.3? _?inally, perhaps the maéﬁ_notable factor in his
success with the Qﬁeen was his disposition to subordinate all other

matters including his raligious.gbals to the national interest.
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There were other members of the "immer circle" offche‘?rivy
Council who at times were to compete with Cecil for the Queen's
favor and of these it was Robert Dudley, Earl of leicester, who
afforded him the greatest concern, Even after the tragic death of
Dudley's wife, Amy Robsart, in which public opinion probably falsely
implicated him and forced Elizabeth to abandon hope of marriage to -
the one man that she was known to have loved, he continued to occupy
a place of high favor in the heart of the Queen.za Just as Burghley
had been instrumental in preventing this marriage, so he atﬁeﬁpied"
to lessen leicester's infiuence on the Queen later, It was the case
of Cecil, the patriotic statesman,calling on Elizabeth to fulfill her
reaponsibilities as»oppuxsad to‘Léicester, the self-aspiring courtier,
appealing to Elizabeth the woman.zs ‘This personal contest was to
fragment the Privy COuncil with leicester and Arundel challenging Cecil
and Bacon in the earlier yekra.zﬁ Later the lines were to become
fdentified with the religi&ﬁs question, all of Elizabeth's counsellors
being anti-Catholic afier Arundel's death 1&;1580; with the excepti;n
of Sir James Croft. There was hawever; among the Protestants a strong
leftewing ?ﬁf£CRn group. ‘Although Leicester took the leadership of
this radicél‘group“cansisting of Bedfdrd,rxuollys and walsinghum, it
is suspected that he was motivated mainly by personal rather. than
religious considerations. After Bacon's death, only Suaaex'aéd
Hatton continued to glve their support to Cecills program.27 In
addition to the religious strife within the ranks of the Protestants,
there was also factional dibcbutént with the old Northern nobiiity; -

predominantly Catholic, resenting the influence of the "new men".



They allied themselves with Leicester in hia unsuccessful attempt to
oust cecil, and did nct atop until they haé tnvolved themselves in thezs
treasonous enterprise of attempting to overthrow the Cecilian regime.
It appaars that these intrigues had cha reverse effect £tom what had
been intended, as it has been pointed out that Cecil's 1n£1uence with
the Queen following this was on the ascandancy.

‘ Sir Francis‘Walsinghmm has been.mantioned in conjunction‘wich
the radical Puritan ‘faction in tha ?rivy CQuncil, but his rale in:
directing English foreign policy marits furthe: considaration. Ihe
first evidence that is available concerning his encry inta the realm
of foreign affairs is a letter which he wrote on the request of Sir
Nicholus Throgmorton to Ceail regardingancmmmﬂations for a Mr. Robert
Bcewar: who was to sﬂlicit aid ‘or the Huguenots from chn-Queen
At that time he was. emplayed by William Cecil te perform secret aervice
work.ao That whiaingham petfcrmed his tasks in Franee wall 13 indi~
cated by the fact that the Queen called on him to play a vital role in
investigating tha Norfelk plot and on Octobar 7. 1569 he was informed ‘
cf tha Queen 8 wiabas that he retain Ridalfl at his houae for iurther
exnminatlon.31 His next important asaignment wns to consiac of
aiding the Hnguenats in securing favorable termn from tha Erench
monatch, Charles X, in 1570. By the tim@ that he was nctually
commissioned ta 80, haw&ver, the TréaCy of St. Germain had been signed,
and his mission appeared to have been only for the purpose of offering
congratulations. In reality, he was given the more important task of
feeling out che attitude of the Fteuch King towards Elizabeth and in

regard tn the Scottish question.32



Extremely important to Walsingham were the years from 1570 to
1573, the period of his embassy to France. It was during this
stay that he defined his attitudes on the important questions of
policy which were to remain for the most part unchanged.aau Although
he definitely did not wish to assume the position of Ambassador to
France, the Queen felt that she needed a highly reliable man for
the very tedious negotiations which wers anticipated, and wnlainghaa
was to display the ability which justified such confidenca in hlm.35
During this embassy, he played a key role in advancing the Anjéu
marriage ungatia:iana,3§ initiating discussion with Anjou regarding
the posgibility of Buglish financial support for his :amp#lgn in
the Low cnunttiua,37 in promoting marrisge uesotiazipna in regard
to Alquon.aalinvconalnatns the Treaty af.slaia,sg‘und in briugiﬁg
about reconcililation between Brgland and France following the Mas~
sscre of St Barnhmxamew's‘nay.ﬁo The convictions whieh‘wélsinghau
had cultivated from his experiences. colored his future advice to
&ha Quean against Spain and Mary Stuart, and in gavor of aiding
the revolting Dutchmen and Protestanta ﬁlﬂﬁﬂhﬁt&eél

That Walsinéhan*s‘performance of duties in France had been
pleasing to Elizabeth 1s evidenced by the fact that on December
21, 1573, he was appointed as Joint Principal Secretary.ﬁz His
" advancemegnt as a public servant had baen phenomenal and it was
certainly recognized by the foreign courts that hs was one of thé
principal persons in influencing goverrmental 1;»011::3;.‘,'-3 De Guaras,

in a letter dated November of 1574, revealed his conviction that



Walsingham was Spain’s chief opponent: "This Walsingham is of

all héretics the worst. He was Ambassador in France, and as he

is in authority here snd is the right hand of Orange, and evil

may be expected f£rom him and his friends in Council."M “This
prediction by De Guaras proves to have been somevwhat justified

for throughout thes ﬂfat four years of his office, his veligious
bent led him to use his influence to promote the cause of the

Dutch rebels and Prench Huguenots. His statement of priorities -
vhich follows lends ¢redence to this point of view: "Above all
things, I wish God's glory and next her iﬁjeat:y’s safety”., Elizabeth
was aware of these sentiments which were to inere&singly Sring him
{into disfavor with her. She charged him justifiably  with being
wora concerned with promoting I’retesmﬁcim than the interest of
the realm. Actually, he felt that the two causes were synony@us.as
?erhapﬁ this religious bent in econjunction with one other characs
ggriatic, his mtnpéken bluntness and impetuosity, were the two
.mt.n factors which prevented hinm frbm approaching Bﬁrghlay‘s
eminence in the high council of the court, and in the eyes of

the Queam%
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CHAPIER II: STATE OF AFFAIRS (1567+1573)

" Having discussed the influential persons in the decisione-
making process, sttention might now be directed to the general
" state of affairs in 1567. Relations with Scotland at this time
had been determined to a great extent by what had happened at
Kirk b‘xield;onlﬁebruary 9th, 1567, when Darnley had been mysters~
fonslv murdebm;d;m‘ Elizabeth. in seekinz evidence to clear Mary
Stuart of this crime, found that bhe facts mustered in the sube
sequent investigations tended to support public opinion in
ncriminating both the Earl of Bothwell and Eary.@ The
'Scottish'nbbility was,ehraged by what followed for not oniy did
Mary refuse to see that Bothwell was prosecuted properly, but she
allowed him to eﬁhénée hié position at court to such an extent thac
the "wvery fabric of Protestant Scotland" was threatened. Murray
 fled to England, and leénnox, the appointed plantiff for the farci~
cal trial which was to take place in Edinburgh, never appeared,
and thus Bothﬁell was declared "not guilty” in the "absence of an
acéuéer."ag The indiscreet Queen of Scots brought further shame
an har country wheu under the precence of abduction and rape, sha

'50
married her sardid Inver on May 15, 1567. Mary had pushed fhe

Scotthah nobility toa £ar, and on June ISth, her forcas were
defeated at Catberry Hill and she wag taken prisoner, and forced
to abdicate in favor of her son Jamaa VI. who at this time waa o

51
but a year eld., Control of Scotland then rested in the hands
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of the Protestant nobility led by Murray who became regent. The
events to this point had activali worked to thé“advaﬁtagé of
Elizabeth. Her rival had been both discredited and‘dethroﬁed and
the new government of Scotland would ﬁeceséarily;bécausa of its
religious leanings, look to England for an allfance.  ¥urthermore,
the young James would bg reared in Proiestanuism'andcthus would
be & much more favurablé candidate féﬁythe successioh than his
Catholic mother had been, agd becgﬁsa of his age it would lessen
the chance of a plot against'nlizabeth'tq hasten his’éuccéssién.sz
It is therefore strange that Elizabeth at tﬁia poin:vdacidéd to
‘abandon the adviﬁe‘of her ministers by 1ntervaﬁiég 1nlnhry'a>beha1£
to the extent that she threatened Murray with, arﬁed iﬂtervéntién
unless he raleased Mary and reatored her to at least naminal o
eovareignty._ Cecil and Throckmorton were able to dissuada har
from the use of force, however, but she steadily refusad to recag~
nize the sovereignty of James or the regency of Hnrtay. ﬁpbﬁ
Mary's escape and futile bid to reclaim ‘the throne on May 13,
1568, Elizabeth was faced with a aerious,problem when the
fugltive Queen of Scbts fled across the border inté Eﬁgland. Thete
were only two alternatives open to Elizabeth since she realised :
that she could not give this "Catholic pretender to her nwnﬁthrone“
freedom to join forces with tbe restléss Northern nobility. She
had aither to proclatm Hary 8 guilc which would justify her taking ‘
her into restraint or she could restrict Mary 8 activity while
attempting to negotiate a compromise with the Regency which would

nominally restore Mary while leaving the real authority with the
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53
established Protestant government. The latter was tha course

which she chose to pursue when she called for each aide‘tn}aend
their commissioners to York. The case which'uﬁ:rayﬂand the ‘Scots
produced against Mary was ao‘convincinthhat it pfacluded'any hopes
that Elizabeth might have had for,rastéring Hary;sé,,Yet rather
than declare opénly against ﬁéry, Blizabeéh declineé”a verdict,
*Thé'reault was that there was a shadaw’oﬁ doubt cast over the
question of Mary's guilt in the minds of thase:uﬁo’had not seen
the "Casket Letters", and this served to keep alive the Marian.
faétion 1n'Scot;and, to give tha.discﬁntented English Catholic
element a rallying point, and to inﬁicg\ﬁpanish #nd French = -
1n:erven£ion on her behalfass
Anglo~French relations in 1567 were generally amiable, especially

aincekaéccrding to the Treaty of Cﬁﬁeﬁu-ﬂamhré&is which had been
signed on April 2,'i559,‘1t was now time for France to reastore
Calais to Englgnd or to forfeit 50*060 ctowns‘56 Cecil wrote to
Norris in France to inform him of the coming of Sir Thomas Smith
and Sir William‘Wintet to. press the negoti#tiens.57 Upon their
arriya1=they went thrgugh,the'rituél in presenting~theit case to
Charles 1IX, bgt his refuéal tb consider*the quastioﬁ'sn thé:grounds
that the English had invalidated che‘Treaty af céteau-Cambéééia
by their’occﬁpation of le Havre was cgrtainiy expectedfsa‘” R

| Earlier, in 1562, Elizabeth had miscalculated the. strength of
a divided France and had suffered the disaéter which lost her Calais
by her invasion of lLe Havre. Actually, at that time Catherine de
Medici was nheyteal,fuler in France as she determined the course
of action that her young son Charles IX would follow upon his

succession to the throne in 1560. Her power was greatly undermined;
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however, as she found herself in the midst of three rival factions,
che Guises, Montmorenci, and the Bontbnns. Thia incernal strife
screngthened the appeal which Conde mnde to Elizabeth on behalf od
the Huguenots. Once having involved herself in their support, she
was badly betrayed as Conde made an agreement with Cazherina de
Madici vhereby the Huguenots united with tha Catholica to expel
the Engliah in return for a graut of religiuus toleration.l This
was a lesson which Elizabeth was not easily to forget., Although
she never completely desefted the Huguenots in the many w&:s;thatv
followed, sﬁe abandoned the idea of open in;erventipn 1# favof of
secret loans of money and supplies wheﬁ she was so inciined.v\tt
also had the effect of éon&inciﬁg Catherine that these 1ntgr§al
dissensions served to invite foreign 1nterventi.on, and she was t:hus
prepared to make concessions at home in the name of coleracinn,
and of cultivating an understanding with Elizabsth, even if it
meént abandoning Mary Stuart.59 |

No such ﬁtend toward reconciliation is discernible in
Anglo-Spanish relations, but rather the course o£}e§ents seemed
to reveal thét friction was iﬁcreasing‘ Elizabeth had feaied the
possibility of joint action on the part of the two Catholic monarchs
in promoting Mary’s tlaim upon her return to Scotiand. She'ﬁés
overly suspicioua of Ph;}ip‘a intentions and she misjudged the
situation in thinking it possible that France and Spain could
overcome their differences on behalf of Mary Stuart, and cetcaiuly
nelther was prepared to 1ntervene unilaterally, Hence Mary's

secret appeal for aid in 1555 met with little success. All that
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she secured from Philip was a promise to lend money secretly through
“the Pope, and’the# only upon redéivinglnatﬁ’s promise mot to lay -
claim to Elizsbeth's throne during her lifetime. Later, hovever,
he mndiﬁied‘hi3 pos1tiaﬂ.and actively encouraged the deaigning
MarQ:Stuaft in hertpldts agéinsﬁ Elizabeth thus juéciffing Elizabeth's
appt#isél’of him and his intehtibﬁ regarding his deaire to ses the
Catholic Queen of Scots upon the Engiish thrnne¢6°

Awong the many factors tendingutoiincreésa'the tension between
England and Sp#in was the increasing competition that ﬁhgland was
offering Spain in regard to control of the seas, England was
fbeginhing :a,recagnige the péésibie‘adﬁantagés’to be affétded'by
a strong navy, not only for defense, but for offense as wvell.
Because of Englandds location, it was in a position to threaten
two of Spain's main lines of communication. From 1567 on, it was
essential that Spain maintain a direct route to the Netherlands,
for it was thare that the bulk of its army wné engaged. This
'dependéd on free ascess'tﬁrdugh the Channel; as did the Spanish
supply route to the Baltie which.waa vitélly;tmpornént fdr the
-procurement of the mast and éordﬁge‘ﬁitb"ﬁhich ﬁo“equip her
armadas, and also of corn with which to feed them. Equally
important, but perhaps not quite so\vulﬂéiabla was éhé “silvér
route" across the Atlantic, This was the stimulus that was to
transform “English seapover from a cosst defence force ancillary
to the army into an independent long range weapbn...?ﬁl

That épain was aware of thg challenge afforded by the Engliéh
to its position of supremacy in the New World is apparent in its

attempt to break the lucrative “Trianguiar Trade" established by



ﬁlSﬁ

John Hawkins. To break the monotony associated with these legiti«
mate trading expediéidns, he resorted to piracy which proved so.
detfimen£31 tocthe;Spaniah silVet supply that Philip répeatedi§'
cOmplaiﬁed'to Elizabeth. ‘This appeal was without availihowavegg
as the Queen not only lent her approval to his adventures but
purchasedishaféa in his second expedition and provided him with
the "Jésus”.' a large royal ship of 700 tons. Elizabeth's confi-
dence in his succeés'was well founded &8s she and thé'bther
shareholdefs'ﬁére rewarded“with sixty percent profit;62‘:Provoked”'/
by such aetions, Philip II was move& to. protect ‘his Bilvet fleet,
by the putting together of an.ﬁscnrt knawn as the Indian Guard.63
" In addition to the pirateering, Spain was concerned over

England's southward and weatward exploration enterprises. . Theaa

actually involved only a small mmber af men and ‘their aignifi» \ :
cance has often been exaggerated, however, they did prove ta |
be points of contention which served to increase the tensians J
between the two monarchs.aa Probably more 1mportant but less ‘.
well known than the publicized weste:n‘voyages were the voyages
to Morocco and Guinea which had beguﬁ ﬁn&er,thtbumberiand'bﬁhy
which wera éonﬁinuéd ﬁn&ér Elizabeth.} The Queen pér#isﬁentiy
£gnored Philip'a protesta that they had been awarded to Portugal,'
and countered with tha reply that she wnuld recogniza aoveraignny
only in those areas oﬁ effective occupation.ﬁs

One particular incidant did kindle tba hostilities of Elizabeth

who was already infuriated by the Spaniah reprisals for English

privateering and piracy on the high seas. This occurred 1n San
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Juan de ﬁlla, Mexico, on: September lath, 1568, when Hawkins
stopped Chera for repairs with two of the Queen 8 warships, the
“Jesus", and the "Minxon”. and four additicnal vessals.aﬁ' On the
fallowing morning, a Spanish sqgadrop cansistxng‘cf ;hitteen;heavily
afmed g#lleoné and f:igateg.fandtundg: tﬁe comm&pd of Alvarez de
Bacan who had béen dispatbhed fcr4tha<pﬁrpo§e'of thwarting‘néwkia’s
goal, appro&ched tbe harbor, ngk;ﬁs, rea1izing the adverse odds,
occupied iha ;siand‘ana secured the mouth of theyha:bor. Excluding
8 Spaniah Admiral from a Spanish par# wﬁs indeed drastic action in
a time of peace, but the circumstance: were desperate. “Befnie
allowing thé,sguadzon to eﬁter; & formal treaty was signed recog
nizing the right of the English fleet to remain , aﬁd to recain
possession of the island until repairs were coﬁpleted, The ;_
égreement was kept until noon of September 20th, when the épauihh
attacked the unpreparad, disadvantaged English fleet.67 Tha |
“Jesus“, three of the amaller ahips, nany man, and a consiaerable
portion of tha cargo wete lost. Hawkinﬁ escaped with his life ;
as did Drake "whe was. afcerwards to exac: from the Spaniards with
compound 1uterest a full retribution for/all his aufferings”
Perhaps the Queen 8 anger at this unprovoked breach of faith was
increased still further due to the fact that as a shareholder in |
the adventure, she suffered personal financial loss.68

| §till another factor made Elizabeth less prone to bend under

_kPhilip s threats of retaliation.k“This”wag the increasing economic

independence of the posiigh merchants. Cerdinal Granvelle, Chief
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Minister to Margaret of Parma, Governess of the Netherlands, cone
vincad that the English merchants were &t the root of:tha‘herecicgl
?rotéﬁtanc outbursts in such cities as Bruges, decided to place an
embargo on English cloth. He felt fha: this would surely bring
Elizabeth into submission and restore England to Catholicism

once the merchants felt the crippling effect of the loss of their
main market. Elizabeth retalisted by excluding imports from the
Netherlands and by preventing exports except in English bogs,
Granvelle took reciﬁrucal action, but only to his own disadvantage,
as the growing opposition in the Netherlands forced his recall.
Trade was reopened, but negotiations cbntinnea’into'1567;‘#né'

the significance of the encounter was that it re-emphasized the

political danger of relying on one country, especially if that

one country was the Netherlands which at this time was teetering
on the brink bﬁianarchy.sg

During this crisis the Merchant Adventurers had attempted to
expand their £ield of trade to include Germany with Emden as the
center of exchange. This proved somewhat abortive and with

Granvelle's remnval, trade shifted back to antwerp. The
supremacy of this great commercial’ center was not to withstand
‘6he political arisis,’ﬁnd in fact vas already on>thé'déc1£ne;

In 1566, this same campany, the uerchant Advantureta had succeeded
'in*making Hamhurg “a principal gateway for Gexman and Baltic trade."
This had a dauble significance ea ‘it not only allowed Kngland to |
break ita dependent status in’ regard ta Antwerp, but to' further

_ 70
bteak tha already deteriorating Hanse‘mmnopoly. .
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It was also in regard to the Netherlands that Philip was to
make the political blunder that precipitated the "diplomatic
revolution” which drove England to seek an alliance with France
and tempted both countries to overt actien against Séain. The
dramétic effects of the Spanish mmnazch‘a decision to wréak
vengesnce on the Nathériandera; to stémpgoﬁt all traces of
heresy, and to ruthlessly impose his absolute suthority at the
expense of the privileged nobility, were not yet revealed when
on August 22, 1567, the Duke of &iva, ?hi11p‘$ notoiious agent
rode into Brussels, accompanied by a Spanish army of some 10,000
infantry.71

The specific events which afforded Philip with an excuse
to intervene might be comnected with the formstion of the |
COmprcmisé. or Leaguas of Nobility in 1565, Its sole puipose was
to enlist support ta’pfesaufe the govermnment undef Matgéret of
Parma, who was directly re3ponai$1e to Philip for all de#isions,
to relax or repeal the despised Edictg, opposed by both Protestants
and Catholics;72 A procession of four hundred of these nobles,
representative of all the realm, took place on April 1566; for
the purpose of presenting the Governess a petition requésting such
gction., She received them honorably and invited th&m into her
chamber Wﬁerﬁ she informed bhem of her decision which in essence
would tamgofarily suspend the Edict, unti1 a decision from her
superior, Philip II, could be reﬁdetéd.?sk | |

The group that ﬁade the greatest gains during thié period

of relaxation was the Calvinist, ptobably‘dne to the zéhl of their
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leaders and their genius for organizationm. Their arduous nature
led them to resent the restrictions still placed on them, " and
the holding of me#inga outeide churches did not give sufficient
vent to their lomge-suppressed feelings, They longed for action,

74 once this

and in the breaking of images, they found it.,"
movement to destroy the most treasured religious objects was
begun at Poparinghe on August 14th, it swept tha country in
frenzied vaves, spreading to Oidenard on the 18th, Antwerp on
the 20th, and on the 22nd, to both Ghent and Amsterdsm, then
on téo leyden, Delft, Utretch, Friesland, and Groningen. Thus
the Gm:mgsa, seeing that soma bff’u:ia}, action was needed to
stop the anarchy, consented to an “Accord" which simply stated
that preaching would be permitted on condition that the people
put down thelr avus and refrain. from interfering with the
old religion, Alse, the dissolution of the Compromise was .
written futo the F&gxemnt.' Margaret, um regainiug her
composure, begsn to take action to vesken the ‘A!c’omrd"nﬁ&

met with little opposition except from the Taks of the
Calvinists who hoped to make Antwerp the strategic as woll as spi-

ritual center of their movement, Orange, the stadholder of the

province, refused to identify himself with this radical movement,

contrary to the tide of national public opinion.
' By preventing their srmies under the leadership of Tholouse

from entering the city, he forced them to remain at’ Oosterweel,

in the open countryside, where the ngtmc*a forces massacred

the lot, Wisely, most of those who had associated themselves
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with the Compromise fled the country, including Orange; not in.
fear of Margaret; but té escape the reprisals from the Army'that
the Duke of Alva was known'to be'gatha?ing.75

‘Subsequently, tha &zasseléﬂ‘goierﬁment’nnt only succeaded in
restoring the old order, but for the £i:st time &égaihed the -
loyalty of the bulk of the population. This was due to the .
reaction against the Calvinists! excesses and the fact that
the majority of the intracteble elements had. emigrnted., Such.
was the state of affairS‘when Philip actually dispatched A!va,
thus making !ﬁ.a excuse seem less valid and "hard for nervous
neighbors to believe that ?hilip-wns sending Alva with so
large a ﬁhip maé&ly to flog so dead akhotSe."ys Elizasbeth's
alarm was not surprising then, as an amy whéch was eventually ‘
to swell to over 50 000 was bagsed just across. thﬁ Narraw Seas
from Dnver, approxdmately one hundred uﬁlas from Londcn. Sums
feared“that hav&ng performed its task\in~tha Netherlands;,it
woul&‘be positioned at:ategiballyvto-tufﬂ an’Enélﬁnd.?z‘

As the WIron Duke" conducted his»?éign:af terror~th£ough the
so-cnlled Blood cmcu with "calculanea'deu.bemién" and .
Ygystematic parsistence“ William of OrAnge appeared co ba the

only leader capable of saving the country, and then only with.
external aid. He directed his appeal‘ta=8urope, not in the
name of Protestantism, for he never conceived of his campaign
in terms of overthrowing Cathnliciam, but rather {n terms of

a united Netherlands offering freedom to both Catholic and.

Pratestant.78 Regardless of the terms in which the appeal was
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shrouded, Elizabeth had no intention of invelving herself at this
point. She hcpéd that ¥rance, who obviously was equally»ai#rmadv
at the Duka's army only eighty miles from. Paria, would take some
action. This posaibility was removed as the Huguennts, suspecting
that the army massing on thavbordet-tatshadaw Alba might,be.directed
against them, haséenad na.éambatsit, thus precipitating the Second
‘?renchaneligiaus War in.september ¢£ 1567,?9
While-ayoiding.avert,action against Spain, Elizabeth's outrage
manifested itself in other signs of growing hestility toward
Philip, One of these which served to quicken Philip's anger was
her renewed support of ﬁawkins, even after”éhe and Cecil. sssured
Da Silva4that he wbuld not trade in the prohibited places.aq, Still
another incident served to push the two sovereigns into oépoaita
cémps.” The grincipal offender was Philip, Elizabethvfirstvbecama
aware of tﬁe trouble brewing when her Ambassador to Spain, Dr.
John Manswrote that hz had been denied the privilege of private
religioua‘ceremony and was forced to attend Mass. Elizabeth
p?otested and reminded Philip of the ambassadorial privileges that
she granted his representatives in England. When the Spanish
account of what really happened was revéaied by De Silva, it
appeared that Man really had abused his privilege in denouncing
the Pope publicly at & dinner party as a “eanting little monk",
Elizabeth was persuaded to recall him upon recelving confirmation
of this story, but was later to be éutﬁaged to discover that Philip
had already expelled him. . Cecil denounced Philip's actions as " a

great plece of disrespect and insult towards the Queen', and as |



"a pretext for war", 80

Coinciding with Elizabeth's reéall of Man was ?hilip's recall
of De Silva.. This too served to further increase the groéing
disttust_and guspicion between the two countries. ﬁhe:eas‘;
Elizabeth had considered De Silva the only Spenish Ambassador
sincerely deairaua of an Aﬁgla»ﬁpanish alliance;‘she raeognizeﬂ
his tépl&cement De Spes as a "diaciple of the éword" and &id not
hesitate to make her hnstility toward him known. This was
clearly the end of any pretended Angla-Spanish ameniciea.al

The first overt anti~8panish action was a bold move on the
part of Eliﬁabeth.to increaae her f£inancial resources. The
opporcunity presenced 1tsal£ when four small Spanigh ships
took refuge from the weather #nd Frenéh’pirates in the harb#r
of Plymouth, Upon discovering that they contained a considerable
loan in the amount of #£85, 000 from the Genoese bankers and were
destined for Alva, Eliznbeth sought and received permission from
the Gencese creditors to borrow this maney herself. This no
doubt puc A&va in a precariaus position as he badly needed the
money to make payments already in arrears to his anxious trooys.az
De Spes informed Alva of tha underhanded deal, and suggesced
wholesale raprisals innluding the seizure of all English cazgoes
and vesgels in tha Netherlands, in addiciaa to imposing an- embarga
on all English trade. Elizabeth learnad of the seizures on
January 3rd, and retaliated with comparable méaaures four days 1ater.83

Alva's confiscation of thelxngliéh ships was an unwiée move; as

it justified Elizsbeth's seizure of the Geacese loan . It placed
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her technically fn the right, and for the fitét time allowed
her to avow openly her intention of keeping the money. Also,
the Spanish and Flemish property in England éroved considerably
more valuable than that which the Duke had obtained.aa

Within the Privy Council, as within the realm, there was
much dissension regarding the Queen's actions relating to the
seizures and there was considerable disagféemant“regatding the
proper course of action, ' In a so-called "Short Memorial of the
State of che Realm", Cecil prescribed clearly what he considered
to be the direction that the Government should take: = £irst, the
establishment of a Préggstant league conéisaing of Denmark, Sweden,
and PrQCeatang Princes of Getﬁnny in #d&ician to England, for
the purpose of defense to resist the Catholic coalition; secOndiy,
the giving of aid to éhe Protestant rébeis of Prance and the
Low COuntriesass

The Spanish ambassador De Spes succeeded in capi;alizing on
this domestic division by encouraging the northern English
Catholic nobiiityvin a plot to free Mary Stuart, marry her to
the Duke of Nbrfolk, and with the aid of Spanish forces supplied
by the Duke of Alva, place her on the chrone of England. Those
who were involved in the‘plot‘to a varying degree included the:
Marquis of Winchester, ﬁhe Duke of Norfolk, the Barls of Arundel,
Northumberland, Pembroke, Westmoreland, and leonard Dacre. From
the very beginning, the plan proved éboriive, as Elizabeth, having

learned of the intended marriage scheme, arrested Norfolk, Arundel,
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lumley, and Pembroke in conjunction with 1&.86

'Having taken Norfolk into custody, Cecil felt that the
internal crisis wuuldup#ss. The Queen's anxiety had not
auﬁsided. however, and upon hearing of an ﬁintended stir of the.
peoﬁle of the North", from the Earl Qf Sussex, Preaident of the
Council of the Nortﬁ, Elizaﬁeth becameé aiarmed and ordered him
to commsnd the Barls of Northumberland and Westmoreland to
preseni themselves at the court.87

Both Cecil and Sussex were convinced that this action was
a bit rash andqthgt 1t-mdght'1ndeed précipitata a rebellion,
Thus Sussex sought to temper the harshness of the royal ccmhana
by calling the E#rls to himself to aasuﬁgavtheir fears, ‘That
they did not respond to his call alarmed bim:  he dispatched
the royal order to them, and on November 13th; he proclaimed
them and their ¢on£edarates to be rehels. - On the same day,
he wr&te to the Queen,?expresaingrstiil hia doubt tﬁat the
Earls would take aggressive action, but pfomisins thét if
théy pursued such & course, ha‘would'he :egdy‘to give up hisl
1ife on behalf of the Quéen¢88 Elizabeth at this point,
feeling that thei:lincentionsvwere cetﬁétnly belligerent, on‘
November 20th, sent out "Minutes, to certen Lords appointed Lieu-
tenants in certen Shires“, bommissioning them to érepare to
suppress the ?ebellion.ag She followed this preliminary
notice up with instructions to the Earl of Shrewsbury on
November ‘26th, detailing the nnmber of men that each shire

was to have at a particular place at a specific time, and
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‘appdinting other shires to have ready a cextain number of men
to aerve upan an hour’s wurning.gg Sussex‘s report of tha
forces which he had been able to enlie; had convinced the Governw
mantvcﬂat locﬁirlevies gouid not handle’the tising in the ﬁofth,
and thus Lord Hunsdon had heen sent with a toving commission to
aid Snssex, while an army from Lincanshire was organized under
CIintan, and another fram Haruickshite under Hhrwick._ Sir
Ralph Sadler was also sent to render assistance to Sussex y
who was given cnmmandlpf the forces in gerwick.gl Elizabeth,
gnticipatihg no aﬁail.stfugglé, was dgtermihed to break:the,??
febéllion early soia; pcﬁ~to allow the Batlé-tiﬁa to solicit
additibnal éuppért;‘e§pacialiy from foreign quafterag :hi;i'
is precisely what occurred nnd:oﬁ_fhe'ilﬁhi Sussex took the
‘affaﬁSLve,‘b¢t there was lictle fighting 23 the.tebel'éi
tesisiénce melted away; On the 21st of the same month, it vas.
reported that the two Earls had £led across tha Border, The
revolt vas over 1n December save one Ias; flickering, fanned
by Leonard Dacre in February of 1570. Lord thsdon easily
smpthered thia feeble effort and ﬂacte fled to Scotland to
Join the two Barls and :ha'few gugporters that they had
managed to carry witﬁ them iﬁtb'hiding.gg Pope Pius V issued
his belated hull ftve dnys after this last encounter, five -
months too late to benafit the rebellion,

The bloody reprisala that followad testify to Cecil's

relentless determination to aearch out and punish those who



~26-

took part in the uprising. He had carried with him for ten years
the fg?x of thalmogthern Catholicq, and "ﬁe aaiied‘qthis oppor=
tunity ;q bring them to their knees, by torture ané‘:grror”.9$
-Punishmenc'was ruthlg#slylmetgd-ogﬁ to pka rank and'filg who
were hanged by‘:hglhund:gés,‘and martial_law wﬁsjimpoéed.A .
There were delays in cases of the influential extending only
ugtil»pro;edureg regarding tﬁe confiééatian of their estates
vere completed.gs As the Botder Lnrda and Scots refugsed to
cooperate with Elizabeth in suppressing the rabels. raids were
conducced‘by troops selected from Southern Kngland.‘,ThaVQueen
felt the necesgity‘of bringing ;ﬁ‘gpégial forces Sgcauée shé
feared that the 3orde;1£roops would Beﬂoﬁarly‘lgﬁienp for £ear
of futu:e’;etaliaﬁién‘w They were cgrtaiﬁlyxwaii‘chasen for .
their job, as déstrucaionwreaked fram Kelso to Dumfriéé testia
fied. All stone houses were blown up, and much of the land was
razed by fira.g6 | ‘ | '

- It should be noted that this reballion was not raised
entirely for the sake of religion as ostensibly pretended.
The rebel leaders no deoubt desired to cloak their personal
ambitions vich the ﬁ:usgde; B Cross yhigh‘they_wore on tyeir
breast, but cﬁe'feal target was the entireiﬂudér pattexn of
government with its cen;ralizing poliéies and its new_adﬁiniatra~
tors who had replaced the old. Among the rank and f£ile, religion
probably éerved as a motivating factor, but the primary force
was no daubt‘their :raditiénalvloyalty to tha»old_ruling

families of the North. Sussex's proclamation of November 25th,
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attacks the sham and hypocrisy in no uncertain terms:
They pretended, for conscience sake to seek to
reform religion, where indeed it was manifestly
known many of them never had care of conscience,
or even respected any religion, but continued
in dissolute life, until at this present they
were driven to pretend a popish behavior, to 97
put some false colour upon chei: manifest treason.
The rebellion in the North, so‘fearéd and for & time so
threatening, was begun without gdequaté preparation, and .
conducted o poorly thg; its inglorious termination might
loglically hgve‘been predicted. For tha trag1c results of -
this fiasco, much of éhe blama ﬁust bé_pl#ced-cn'ne Speg,
for encouraging the rebellion with~hiz;un£0undsd promises of
Spénisﬁ assistaaca.’ Yot Engl;sh carholics\ware,ppt to learn
easilf that Philip'é aid w&s;na: easily given, or given at .
alllwithout ample inﬁicatiang to_assﬁfé hiw 6£vreaping'tha:'
h#fvéaiiof success and\gga:an:ee»him‘of avoiding the panalties
of failure,”®
. Northumberlgnd's éanfessiqn,.uhen:finally‘exagted, revealed’
tha;’;h§)¢°n5pira¢ylba&;ga: been h;tchqd'ﬁntillafter Norfolk's -
impria&ﬁmenhg that they wure hoping'tokﬁtompt a general uprising
of ali Englisﬁ Catholics‘by'releakingvuaryStuart,gg and mogt‘
i@portaﬁt,‘that’they were télying on fqieign assistance.loo
This iaatvfééﬁorvuhs‘ofyextreme imparcance £at.it was this
revelaﬁiau along with tﬁe ravival of the Mhriaﬁ faction in
Scotland upon Murray's aasasinationvon January 22, that caused
ﬁlizabeth to véer on a much mnre’detetminad coﬁrse of action

in the year 1570. This new toughening line toward Spain was:
revealed as Elizabeth made the following demands of Philip
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thfoﬁgh Cobham: that a séééial énv0§ be sent to treat with the
seizuras,'ahd thﬁt thé ﬁhgiiéh rebels and téfugées be eipalled
£rdm~8pain.‘ Elizabeth was auute of the 1ncraasing preasure on
Alva following the Geuoeae loau aeizures and the privateering
puccesses in the ChanneI, eapecially sinse the axpenses tncurred
in thélﬁnfiﬁéo Révult, the Leﬁantb Campaign, éléﬁg‘with'thé ‘ |
_Couﬁier-séizhresbby the Bﬁgiiﬁhg‘pfevented Philip f?ﬁd relieving
his £inaucia1 burden. She ihné £ei£itﬁat she was ih'a.position
to force a favorable settlement, or wauld make no sattlemenc
at all.loz

 While assuming such an arrogant podition in regard to Spain,
Elizabath recﬁgnized the merit of strengthening ‘her alliance with
France‘ It was for this purposa that she diepatched Walsiugbnm
to Franceg “The successes of his‘embaSsy have yreviously beer
-enumetaéeﬁ. The - yrime abject of his first year in this post
was to atrengthen tha Amglo~?rench relationship by promating
the Anjou mnrriaga. ﬁatherina de MEéici, although aagar to
come to terms with Elizabeth doubted her sincerity in these maps
riage negotiations, nnd thns heaitated to take cha 1n1dmive1u '
proposing such a mateh. Thus in the beginning it was thﬁ English
rathsr chan the ?rench crown that promoted the Anjou marriaga
projecc, based on the cansideratian that such negotiations |
might prove to be & handy diplomatic expadient.lqs The official
marriage proposul was not made to Elizabeth until April léth,
when Cavalcanti brought to England the "Eight Articlea of
Demand of marriasge with Henry Duke of Anjou“ 104 Most of the

Privy counsellars, including Burghley and ueceiatet lent their
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support to the proposal, but there was much discussion throughout
the country ac,la?gs_that a French husband mighc;be eqﬁa;ly as
objectionable gsua:y'mdo;_'s Spanish Philip,

This difference of opinion is illustrated by & document -
entitled “A Discourse of the Queenes mariage with the Duke of -
Anjoye, drawen oute by thehlorﬁg Keeper." Sir Richolas.
Bacon, the occupant of that office, elaborated on three personal .
reasons and four reasons of State why "it is naeeasarya‘for
here to mary withoute longer delay of}cy@é.”;*ﬂa«included\a
discussion of the ﬁdiscqmmndiqies", ﬁ;;:theae were not nearly
go great. Sir Walter Mildmay, an opponent of the marriage,
rejected the Lord Keeper's con&lusian ﬁnd on the document itself
revealed his disapproval by his:marginalinotes.and-his.concluding
note which states; "To the matter of Religion, which,ia the
greatest thing, he hath said nothing, and to the rest tha
saunsweres are not so weightie as the objections if thay be
wall considered."los Talk of this permanent AnglOarrench
alliance was enough to couvince many of the English Catholics
}that‘Spain might now be ready to rendet‘assistancg'in their -
behalf, 106

~ Such was the atmosphere that prompted the formation of another
Catholic plot, this time by a Florentine banker resident in London

by the name of Ridolfi. The key information which led to the -
unravelling of this sinister conspiracy ﬁaa produced when
Charles Bailey, a Scoitish agent of the Bishop of Ross, having

been put to the rack, admitted knowledge to a proposed plot
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inviting aid from the King of Spain, the Duke of Alva, and the
Poﬁe.lo? Further questioning implicated the Bishop of Ross who
admitted to having received letters regarding Mary's role in the
plans, ‘Intertogation of Higford and Barker, two of Norfolk's
sectetarieglled to the discovery of the key to the cipher which
enabled Burghley to transcribe a letter written by Mary to Ross
which gsealed the fate of Norfolk. In his own testimony, Norfolk,
having been already compromised, gava'evidance against Hugh Owen,
Arundel's servant, and Sir Henry Percy.loa. The most daming
evidence was obtained from the Bishop of Roas, whose fear for
his own life, led him to reveal to 2 coumittee of the Privy
Council all the details; spelling out the roles of the Queen
of Scoté. the Spanish ambassador, Nbrﬁoik, Owen, Stanley, and Percy.
The revelations of the Ridolfi plot quite certainly accentuated
the Spanish danger anﬂ}tended to 1nnreasé Blizabeth's concern
about Philip's possible interference elsewhere. Particularly
alarming was the invitation extended by tha Irish fé Philip to
- be their sovereign., The circumstances which prompted this
sction occurred during the administration of Sir Henry Sidney
ﬁs lord Deputy of Ireland., Sidney was confronted with a situation
in which strong Irish Chieftans rebelled against England's attempts
' to consolidate its comtrol, particularly im the Northern Ulster
varea where the chieftan 0'Neil exerted great iufluence.110 When
an English expedition of Sir Petar Carew, Sir Richard Grenville,
and Sir Humphrey Gilbert tried ‘to revive old claims in Munster

and Connought, the result was a period of three years from 1569

109
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. to 1571 of‘ monotonous slaughter and bloodshed. = These conditions

promp!;ed the Irish to seek Spanish assistance.  Although Philip .
was abstaining ftm open interference on the hope of warding.
off English involvement in the lLow Countries, an English traitor
by the name of Stukeley, in the service of Spain, caused Elizsbeth
considerable alarm 28 he attempted to muster up an _army.nf {nvas

gion, 111:

_ The resulting temsion in Anglo-Spanish relations prompted .
Euzabeth to exped_ift:a tﬁe negotiatiuna’ﬁor the French alliance, -
The marriage negotiations ,th&t had begun inlls?fl:, had qtalled
mainly on the gquestion of religious allowances. Gradually,

leicester began to push the religious issua to undermine =the'

‘negotiations and to convince Walsingham that the match might be

harmful to the Protestant e:ausa.ng ~ The Qt_xee:i held on to her
stubborn position regarding the religious concession ‘for some
time, thus giving Catherine cause to doubt her intentiomns once
again, ’am‘i thus contributing also to a growing negatﬁe atti-
tude on the part of the French, toward the ,mmga.m Actually,
4njou, having come further under the influence of the Guises,
probably would have rejected the match a,v’an if Blizabeth had.
cmeﬁe‘d‘ on the point of discuaaion.lm. At this stage; both
Walsingham and leicester began to hope in terms of an Anglow
Frgnch lae_ague without the marriage, Burghley staunchly inéisted
that the marriage was an indispensable preliminafy to secure the
alliance.us v |

- It was for the purpose of reviving the marriage negotiations,
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and, if that failed, of formulating a defensive alliance that Sir
Thomas Smith was dispatched to join Walsingham and Killigrew in ‘
December of 1572, He soon discovered, to Burghley's consternationm,
that there was little hope of reviving the Anjou match, but that -
Catherine was willing to offer the Duke of Alengon as a substitute.116
Although Burghley favored the match, Elizabeth emphasized the o
problem of religion coupled this time with the problem of age.117

In addition to these major considerations, it seems' that Elizabeth"
was also disturbed by the report which she received from Walsingham
making mention of his pock-marks.'118 Thus realizing that the
prospects for reaching an accord on the new marriage proposal

were slight, the English diplomats concentrated their efforts

on negotiating a favorable treaty of alliance.

In November 1571, Walsingham wrote to Burghley that ‘the time
was especially favorable for concluding a French alliancé since
Charles IX, although ostensibly joyous over Don John's victory
over the Turks at lLepanto, was inwardly disturbed by thé increase
in Philip's reputation, and therefore more amiable to the English.119
Their success depended on the resolution of two main problems, the
question of Mary Stuart and Scotland, and the religious question.

On both of these issues, England succeeded in getting a compromise
which favored théir position, Although Elizabeth had insisted
upon having a religious clause, aimed at Spain, written into the

treaty, it was agreed to accept a letter from the French king in

lieu of a definite statement written into the treaty itself.



=33

Regarding the first issue, England agreed to a joint Anglo~French
commission empowered to reconcile the warring factions in Scotland

upon the French recognition of James as the de facto King. Abso-

‘lutely no mention of Mary Stuart wés made in the treaty according -

‘ 120 , , RN
to the English wishes. - The final draft of the treaty was

121
gigned by Walsingham and De Foix at Blois on April 19, 1572,

The merit of this “defensive league" was not really in the

positive military commitment which either one was obligated to.

afford the other in case of attack, for this was indeed mesger,
but rather in the promise not to aid the unstated enemy; which
vas clearly‘Spainalzz.
- -Concurrent with the negotiations for this‘treaty; ta1ks'we:e:}
hald’with‘Coligny for the purpose of formulating an alliance of‘f
France, England, and the German Protestants to aid Orange's -
brother, Louis of Nassau; who waS‘planning*a large summer . .
offensive in 1572. The plan called for the partition of the -
Netherlands, with France receiving Flnnderé~and Artoi#g England
receiving Holland and Zeeland, and the rest under William going
to the Empire. Realizing the danger presented by the possibi-
lity of French control of Flanders, which-wuuld‘giva Prance
control of the entire coastline east and west of the Straits
of Dover, Burghley was quick to reject such a pfepoaél. England
found French domination of the Netherlands an even more frightening
prospect than Spanish contr:ol.lz3

- While rejacciﬁg positive,aid'in the form of an alliance as -

described above, Elizabeth in what was at the time comsidered a
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pro-Spanish move, provided Orange with the opportunity to control
mich of Holland, Zeeland, and the important waterways to Antwerp.
The event which precipitated this revolt in Holland and Zeel&nd .
was Elizabeth's expulsion of Le Marck and Brederode and the
lesser privat:eers.‘ under their command on March 1, 1572,12,’ - The
Narrow Seas had bacome infested by pi.rateé and privateers, some
calling v‘themselvaa captainsg in the service éf-Oranga‘,z 'aow fi'om
Prance, joined also by some Englishmen, fr@ltheir headquarters,
in the souﬁhem Bnglish ports, they wéﬁr. the Chinnel, phindering
all nation's shipa,bbut relaasiqg thg,ir‘hoﬂtilitiés-éarnvi’cularly
on the Spanish whose crews they thre& into tha sea. 125 Following
their. expulsiqn, they combed the coasts for several weeks before
occupying the Brill-, ‘a small town whicfx comndéd é;itry into the
Rhine. . Second in command under lLe Marck was Van Treslong who
suggested that they hold it for Orange. Following its capture,
Flushit;‘gvactuallyi invited the Beggars into its midst,hnkhuizgn
broke into rebellion, and usiﬁg tﬁese as bases,: l'e’M:atck"s} ;
crew succeeded in bringing most. of the tpwns of Holland and
Zeeland fnto Orange's camp, As Alva was forced to remove still
more of his troops south to combat the forces baeing mounted by
Louis of Nassau, much of the country north of the Rivers fell
into the hands of the rebels;ue

The prime English consideration at this point was that of

preventing French. intervention in the struggle., Once Alva had

succeeded in breaking the southern offensive at Mons, he turned

north and bsgan his campaign to regain most of the territory
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taken by the Beggars. aﬁly, Holland and Zselsand rcuntinued'fto
offer any noteworthy resistance, In a key document ‘attributed
to Burghley, entitled a "Memorial for Matters of Flanders", he
set forth the ambivalent role that England was to axamm its
dealings with the Hatherlands:

If tha Duke of Alva seemed able to hold his own
against Prance, England should "let both sides .
‘alone for a time,' If not, and if "the French
proceed to seek to possess the maritime coam:s
and frontiers' then Alva should be informed
secratly of the Queen's Majesty's dispcsit:ian
to assist the Ring his maaster by all honourable
means she might in the defense of his {nheri.
tance, &0 &s it may appear to her that he will
ddscharge his subjects of their intolerable
~oppression, vestore’ them to him, deliver them
from the fear of the Inquisition, and continue
with her Majesty the ancient lesgue for amity
and traffic in as ample sort as sny others
Dukas of Burgundy heretofore have done, 127

This statement raveals Elizsbeth's exact sentiment regarding

~ the desired outcome of the struggle, This official pa&itioh'

a5, "ot nﬁchal‘langeé kowever, a8 it bacama increasingly ‘¢lear
thac Leicester and Walsinghaxg éubordiﬁééé&' natzonalit'; ,‘feliéiws
considerations, and continued to advocats arimed intervention on
behalffof'tha'rgbais;lgsaThe doctrine é&slfirst‘applie&fbyVSif"
Humphrey Gilbert vho in June 1572, directed & band of English
volunteers aecording to his secret instructions to drive the
French out of Plushing, and counter thelr influence i’n‘!ealéﬁd.m
~ #n internal crisis in France plunged that country into a

saries of religious wafs that tenderad“‘it iﬁopeutive’ m‘the'

Ratherlagd's struggle and :ﬁmpuéar‘i}.y“ relieved England of 'i:hiﬁ

worry. The event which initiated this civil strife was tha

Massacre of St, Bartholomew's Day which eccurred on August 24,
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1572, It was largely due to the connivance of Catherine de Medici
who, after failing in an sttempt to assasinate Coligny, succeded
in éunvincing her gullible son Charles IX that the Huguenots
were plotting to overthrow him and stamp cut Catholicism, By
consenting to the execution of the wajor Huguenot leaders, ‘whe
happened to be in Paris for the celebration of the marriage
batween the Bourbon caia.émnm; Beﬁry ief_ Navarre and the King's |
sister,Maxgaret, Charles IX precipitated a nation-wide massacre
of Pxotaatants.xs

News of the bratal massacre shocked England into a state of
frenzy, The Quoen sent an,magsadq:}‘mg‘h to inﬁmvrﬁhe'aeateiah -
mmty, mepsures were taken to ,tiglii:e;; the security on Hary L
stﬁwt, the masters Wa- called out, #izd ‘th,a £lest was put in a
state of readiness. When the French Ambgasador was finally given
audience with the Quean, he found ,theétmt dressed in black for
'mxning.isl Elizabeth heard the official story but doubted ite
veracity, Walsinghsm confiried her doubts as "he advised Rlizabeth
strongly not t.é be deceived by their "falr speaking'! but to regard
them as en&mias;"laz He advised her #lsa that he desired to be
recalled s his life was threatened by the ultra-Catholics with
the Guise family back in power, Upon broaching this matter te
Charles IX, he was urged to stay, with the King insisting that
such & bresk in diplomatic relations would be construed unfaverably,
and poseibly as a declaration of wat.m It appeared that this
single baleful day had completely changed the political complexion.



Tha English looked upon the French as monsters of falsity; their
recently concluded treaty now seemad but 8 fraud, and the marriage
negotiations g lie. Momentarily, England stood alone against a
united and intolerant Catholiciam.lﬁé Actually neither side #t
this time vas in a position to break their alliance, and Charles
assured Elizabeth that he would restore the Edicts of Tciéraﬁiou,
and do what he could to punish the yerpetrataré éf cha'ﬁhrdefs. 135
Catherine set to work imﬁediaéely to rvevive tﬁa negotiaéinﬁs for

the marriage, even suggesting that aha gccompany Alengon to England 136
Elizabeth,stallaﬁ on thia account, but at least gave evidence that
she would give further consideration to the question of cha mnrriage.
~Relations with France from this point on wera certainly to remain
strained, but Elizabeth, with Eutghley’s backing, was determined

o 137
to preserve the patched alliance itself,
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CHAPTER IIX: YEARS OF CALM (1573-1580)

Por better than a decade following the Massacre of St. Barthos
lomew's Day, Elizabeth's reign was blessed with the luxury of
relative peace, chavacterized by the absence of major foreign
conflict, and freedom from domestic rebellion. The first five
of those particular years, from 1573 to 1578, brought & calmnasa
aud security yat unknown in Elizabethan Englandizéav This apirit
of traaquility did not prevail in the Privy ¢Ounc11, houavar.

Walsingham wha became Joint Principal Secratsry vith Smith
in necember of 15?3, vignrously agitgted, with Leicgkter's
support fa: active intervention on behalf of the Protestant
cause. Walainghamfa accurate evaluation ‘that the quiatness cf
England "procesded from her neighbcra' unquietness” caused hﬁm
to feel that ‘the atate of peace wuuld ba shortlived. He forecast
that the transient diatractions of her enemies would disappear,
"fand tha two great mmnarchiea qfvEurope would turn 'not only
to disquiet but also to displace Her ﬁajeéty""Iag Events which
occasionally sarved te alazm the Quaen caused some vtriationa
in the overall ‘policy so that "1ts movements look as erratic as
those of a sailing boat in light and vwriable airs, conseantly
trimm&ng its sails to catch each puff of shifting breeze even
vhile aiming always at tha 83y mark." The main objeativgs were
two in number, first to keep the French out of the Retharlands

and Scotland, and to restore to the Netherlands the semi-independent
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. 140
posicion and the 1ibertias which t:hey had enjoyed nndar chatles v.

'I.‘he changa of mrchs m France in my of 1574, with the dea::h

of Charles XX and the mcesaion oi Henry m: raieed soms doubt
v:egarding Angim?rench relationa in that A\njm was 8 st:aunch
Catholic. Yat with hia mm eountry tm by civi.l atrifa, he was
in no pusitian to x::.ak alienating Bli,zabeth, and an z'sbmry 20,
1575, he eagarly reumd the Treaty aﬁ Bleiw vhich again became ‘
effective on April 6th, with the Queen 8 tat:iﬁication.wl ‘rha
fonawing year, t;ha Queén ‘s warning against Alangon 8 pmpcsad
,Netherlands' ventum, along with a ranawal of the intarnal conflict,
v aamd to retard any such activity until July Qf 1578;

Ou the quas::ion af seizurea and cmntewaeizuma wit:h Spaf.n

thaﬁt resulted from the 1568 saizure of t:‘he G&naesa loan, ir. . :
appeara that the Spanish marchauta had suffered heavy Inases. | In
additim, they had anst:ainad heavy losseﬂ due to piracy and :ha |
loss of English t:rade which had been divarted t:a Emdeu and Hamburg.mz
Burghley responded favorably to Alva and tngether m 1573, they |
cmluded an agreemem: on the foilowing point:sx that trade would
be rest:ored betmean England and Spain and the Low Countries, that
privateering and plracy in the Channel wauld be suppressed, and
t:hat: English rebals wuuld be expelled frem r:he Iw Cmmtries, _
and the Dutch rebals from Eng;and. 'nxis nmu:ed agreemnt in

1573, providnd fai' the i‘enéwai oﬁ tradea. All o£ these pointa ‘
kvwere not given formal recogui.t:lon until August of 1574, and £inal
claims were also recognized at that time in what became known

. as the Convention of Briatol..IM‘ Animosities between the two
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countries had been still further reduced in November 1573, when
Philip replaced the despised Alva with his much less mted
successor, Don Louis de Requescens .,’“5 v

In pur‘auing the uvltimate terms of peaca which sha desired
for the Netherlands, Elizabeth chose a pacific course as she
offerad her services to mediste betwesn Spain and the Netherlands.
At this juncture, 1t was William, rather than Philip who held
out, preventing & settlement, He proved contrary, not only in
insisting that religlous liberty be added to the ancient liberties,
but in blocking the Scheldte and thus preventing England from
reopening trade with Antwerp, The Privy Council Register
reverls that positive steps were taken to retaliate agatnst
William's policies. laws wera passed preveénting Engiiistma from
joiuing in with the naggars,l“ & Dutch sqguadron was saeized at
Torbay, 14»7 an embargo vaé placed on Dutch ahi::ptus,us trading
vesgels ware stopped in the Channal and thely crews distributed

149 4nd the Lord Mayor of London vas directed
150

over the Cinque Ports,
to saize Dutch werchants who traded there,
reprisals in the Low Countries, and Sir William Winter, Robert

There wers counter

Beales, and Willizm Dsvidson were sant :a seak vapproachment on
‘these mtuxa.xs} The Dutch proved to be se thick in the Channel
that single mexchant ships awaited convoy in the Thames, fearful

to venture out alons. The Adniralty ordered that additional
security be provided for those ships tramsporting contraband batween

Spain and Englanéalsz Finglly, realizing the wmstusl demage involved,
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Blizabeth and William cams to terms, - the tsprossed Duzclmen
#nd ships wers x*e&aweé, and Eiizabeth ence ugm permil::ed the
sale of W ta Ealmaé on & gomevhat im&m& scale‘m

The uafartmta death of Raqaesam 4a Mareh of 1576, left
the Spanish army 1@5@1@33.“ Their pay mmywm montha in
arvears, they mutinied and began pillsging the cowntry, wreaking
violance in their path. On November Ath and Sth, they sacked
the important city of Auﬁéarp, causing _ﬁha Merchant Mventa;rera
there haavy losses. Because of their unbridied vs‘&&u@a, and
tha w&ntaty'mnhy that s:héy f:oe:cetéﬁ,’ these troops were given
the name “Spanish ?ﬁry”guﬁ 'ﬁmx mutiny meant the gmemz
¢ollapse of spmiah suthority wer the Netherlands , and freéd
Holland in actuality, aiMh it was to be another aaventy years
before Spain recegnized its tnaependenca}” m mtinaers
retained a form of erganization under an "ai&cto“; and dsternined
to purge the country of heratics and undertaok even their massacres
undar the guise of piaty.}58 With the central government unable
to restore ovder, tha States began lmiug troops to vppnsé the
murderous bands, and the States of Brabant addressed 4 summons
to the other provinces excepting Holland and Zealaud to send
representatives to the States General. Only Planders and Hainaut
rasponded, but togather these three selected .&sarachén as their "
Chief, The Council of State, under Dﬁa Reda challenged this
opposition movement, The States General, meeting illegally looked

to Orange for support iand incorﬁnr‘ateﬁ in their grdgum the conclusion
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of peace with Holland and Zeeland. This body had taken the
first step on the road to tebellionigggiust Philip, agdvthia‘_
revolution of 1575,>?a§;mptiya;§d,py the;péoplgithemsglves.?s?
The conclusion of the Pacification of Ghent with the States was
an indication that Orange and his rebelg hed won an astounding
victor,

This was the state of affairs when Don John, Requescens'
xepiacemen#, finally arrived in 1577. The States General had
succeeded in 8rol lciting great support and the nobility was
vdetermined,ta hold an to theirvrightful_demandsvupon the agent
of absolutism, Realizing the weaknessa of his situation, he
_¢ap1:glateé and by signing the Ecerggqug'?grpggnalvsdicg;in 
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February, grdergd the‘Spanish,troops,bét ?ﬁ the countzy. .
Thia‘Edigt;appearéd to symbolize gha.ggiggge afyglizabéth’g -
success, in thég the Netherlands hgd_ﬁgqg temporarily reunited,
with their angient_libafgias,}and ggcééﬁiging ;he»Syqnish,king
as their sbvereign.),Tharngaa one. £law, however, and #hisvwaa
in the Bdict's failure.go‘settle che‘tgxigiququuestion, thus
alienating the Hollandewand Zeelanders,'®!

As the conflict invtﬁe Rethe:l#n&\wﬁg reneved, Elizabeth
concluded that the religioés issue waS°th§_daminant,¢au§e.v She
was thus determined to remain aloof 1n,terﬁs of a militaiy commit-
ment. Alengon was,toycanaé,her consiﬂ@?@ble anxiety, however,
as the French, now frae from the grips of civil conflict, were

threatening to assume a more positive role, The States General

had secured the Austrian Archdnke Mathies as Dan_John's replacement
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an& Philip had feﬁurned the‘Spa§£Sh army under thé‘very able:
Alexander Parness, the'Prinéé of‘fafﬁa;laz‘lné proééeded to
dispi;y ﬁis tglenc ;n Janﬁkry 31;v1578;‘at Qémbiouk where he
badly defeated the army of the States Gana:a1;163 Agéih |
Elizabech.atteﬁpted mediatiaﬁ; aénding'walainghaﬁband Lord
COBham;tovattempt to secure an agréement between Dou John
and the Statés;v The failure o% this embassy to.the Low
Countries in the. summer of 1578, left her with but two choices,
offering English assistance, or backing Anjou 8 enterprise& 164
Her instinctive desire to avoid avert ac:ion proved 80
strong that it prompted hek to revive the marriage negotiations
Qith Alenggh; {Foibﬁhe next-féur=yéats; Elizabeth utilized
\the‘Algﬁggu conrﬁ#ﬁip most effectively., There existed d
mutusl need: Ellzabeth needed a kaight to fight her battle
in tﬁalLow~COuh£§ie§;?$nd Alénépﬁ'badiﬁxﬁaédeé.fiﬁaﬁcialﬁ‘
backing. ;65 Dﬁriﬁg the extended courtship, two psychological
factors were no doubt to play an incalculable role, the first:
being Leicester'a marriage to Lettice Knollys, ‘and the second
being :he Queen's age, forty-five in Septembar of 1578.16§
To expedite matters, Alengon sent a court favorite Jean de
Simier in January with power to conduct negociations and to
conclude che martiage.ls? A
The Queen invited discussion from her Privy Counsellors
on the progosed marriage. An 1uteresting document bearing :

on the subject is a copy of & léttef'whiéh Ehé.ﬁarl of Sussex

had written to the Queen in Augus:%of 1578.' Thenfacé that



the copyvislinbsit Walter Mildmay's handwritingvmgght be
explniﬁed by the fact that he took great 1nterest in the
martiage queseion, and engagad in the discussions with
vBackerville and Simier. In thisrpresentat;on;vhg enumerates
both the "gqmquy:ies,uhich’hg saieih’vill foilqwf aﬁd the
5discommodyties that are objectadﬁ . It is difficult to
couclude which he felt were the weightier.léa ‘Mildmay also
endorsed snother key document which records the deliberations
of a_commisgion of privy councellors who were considering the
queétiona tﬁcgérding té the document, Bﬁrghley,,Suasex;,
Laicester, Hnnadoﬁ, Hatton; Walsingham, and Wiisoﬁ weré
inclﬁdeé._ The diacusaion 1is divided 1nto three mnin categories:
"Perillas grawing by thz mariaga, the commodyties growing by
the mariage, and pertiles lnsuing by Ieaving this Alliance.”
Thg}qrgumengs,a:g dgci&gdly_weigh:ed sgainst the proposed
unten. 169

Bﬁrgﬁ;ey's extensive notes on the committee meetings
heléan 6ct9be; 2, 1579, iorAtﬁe_pnrposg of diéqussing':ha,
proposﬁl and on Octobar 6, 1579, for discﬁssing thé specific
treaty are most valuabla in revealing the feeling of the
ind;vidual,counsellors.v Lord Burghley, who was evidently
presiding, set forth the following "Order how to proceed to
che»biscussiqn Bf the Queétions_mnvedk;oncernlng,tbe Queéne;
Ma:iage:wigh‘noﬁsieur d‘Apjoyﬂz“rq,cqngige: first the danger
to the Queen and Government if she doesn't marry; to consider

how to remove the danger without marrisge; to consider
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the danger or harm if she does marry; to consider what profits
or benefits are to be derived if she does marry; and to compare
: gheﬂabove};?o Ha?détgiled,each;ofjthelfallawing-meﬁbers' point
of view, revealing that Mildmay, Sadler, M, Vice Chamberlayn, and
§ir Henry Sidney oppﬁN5ed the marriage, whereas ‘only Mr.: Secretary
171

Wilaon, ‘and  Lord Hunsdon gave their. approva1.~‘ Ihgxﬁollowing
conclus;an”whiph Burghley presented to;the.Queen is typical
of his restraint:

If hir Majesty wold here‘offiha‘Eéfrills by -

mariadg wit then Remedyes, and also of the

Perrills by mariadg with ther Remedyes, her-

‘Majesty might thereof by her Wisdom, with

the assistance of God's Spirit, make election.

of the on or the other; and than every good

Counsellor would surpressvthefLSeveralfOpinions;

being contrary, and follow and by all thet 172

Powers and Wills maynteane hir: Majesty s Election.
‘ The emotional involvement displaye& 1n this courtship:
distinguished it from the others. It can prcbab1y be.begtr‘,a
explained in.termsvof»the{twq psychological fagtas previously
mentioned. Elizaberh displayed herﬂsénsiiivity on the subject
hy relieving Jahn Stubbs of his right han& for his vell publi-
cized diatribe entitled "The Discovery of a Gaping Gulf |
whereunto England is like to be’swallowed‘byvanpther»French
Marriage if the Lord forbid not the bands by letting her
Majesty see the sin and punishment thereof,” Stubbs, writing
with bluntness, addresséd himself to the public ear, expressing
his opinions that the Queen was too old and the Duke, rotten
with debaucherye'tha oldrserpént.himself'in the form of

a man come a second time to seduce the English Eve and to
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"ruin the English Péradise."173 '8ir Philip Sidney's sentiments,
expressed in a letter to the Quewn, were more in accordance '
with the main objections being raised throughout most of the
country, namely éppcstng the proposed bridegroom on grounds
of his nation#lity and his'religion.174 :Elizabeth, although
disturbed by the unfavorable public ﬁtterancea; nevertheless,
appointed a committee of the Council to arrange the terms
of the marrisge with Simier. On October 24th, the negotiations
were eomplene&,_and he returned to Prance. There was & pro-
posal however, which stipulated that‘the‘treaty was inopera-
tive ior two mbnths_du:ing which time Eltzabeth hoped to
obtain het‘snbjééffé apprcval.l75

The montha‘foiiowing Simier's departure saw a loss of
enthusiasmron‘Elizabeth’s'pari."By‘Jaﬁuéry of 1580, Burghley |
concluded that the Queen had again decided against the‘marriage.176
In the spring of isso;zyétranocher civii'gonflice enveloped
France, this time acvising out of court intrigues and involving
Henry of Navarre and his brother the Priﬁée'af Conde’.  In
"La Guerre des Amoureux"; as the struggle was called, Navarre
established his military reputation at the siege of Cahors,
and Conde’ fled to Gérmany and later to England. These Civil
Wars in Prance had sgain served as & deterrent to the marriage
negotiations, thus allowing Elizabeth to keep up the "ticklish
game of keeping her French éuitor ‘in correapondence'".177
There was much agitation in therPrivy Council at this point

as the situation in the Lov Countries had prompted Oranga
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and the States to offer é‘lengon sovereignty in :emr# for French
support. This offcr was confirmed in tﬁaﬂfraaty of Plessis le
Tours, & copy of ﬁhs.eh Alengon sent to Elizabeth who openly
vexp‘tessped‘no disapproval. It sppears that her main concern
was again Spain, with the possibility of the Guises veturning
to power in France and uniting with Philip against her. FPrench
‘involvement in the Netherlands was preferred to this possibility,
especially if she could once again direct the act,ions of
Alengon by vejuvensting the marriage _,ampmaus.m

Upon the Ring's announcement that he once sgain intended
to send commiseioners to England, Elizabeth insisted that
they be of the highest ramk, probably hoping that such a
show would serve to convince Spain of #2;3 strength of the |
Anglo-French allisnce. Such was provided as the French retinue
included the ?rimé Dsuphin, the sgctétary of guta,. Lansac
and"!'enélpu, to 'acn‘xal‘iy ,conduct,mgot‘:;a,cim and at least
500 ylagau:;-senelmn. ‘._anpataum,m been made to :cqual
the splendor of ;he,accaéioa as a syec?.ai banquet hall costing
aver £ 1744 hm‘imbﬁgnnaﬁsg:ruct,ed,iqnd.::hgy were elaborately
dined at Cecil .3@#9 in Covent Ga,rden‘ and sumptuously enter-
tained by bearcbas,:ing_'ap May Day andby the "Iriumph" which
was staged in :hé 'g‘i.)._vjt_ayard at Hhitehéxl._!,_o:mue again the
commissioners sucéeedeé in forunhting. a-tréaty but again .
there was a loophole, as the. treaty ;bm:._ai.nedf_;q .clause which
stated that its apéu;éation ¢epépde¢ tm & &ﬂu;lte. arrangement

between the Queen and che,nuke,to.m:rg.%”



Alengon arrived in England in October of 1581;‘uhéta'hé .
was to remain through December, either for the purpose of
marrying the Queen, or 1f that failed to secure financial
backing from her. As the\months.worewon,ixlizabeth had a
definite inclination to get‘rid of hiﬁ,VQVQn if it coat her
money. Finally she induced him to leave with & grant of
£10,000 and a promise of £50,000 to be paid later. She
publicly feigned sadness at his departure but it is reported
by:the ladies of her chamber thatrsha‘danéed fof'joy.lso'v»,
The courtship had certainly served itsbﬁurpoéa by giviﬁgf
Elizgbeth another seven yeara:to bolster her home‘défeﬁées.lal

 During the years of peace, Elizabeth had done much to
enhance England's defensive capacity. General musters wore
held Eréquently,lsz'aﬁd'the lord iieﬁteﬁauta, who wére'§£Ven
the responsibility of training the local ‘bands, were given ‘
the duty of seeing that & certain number of men in each |
county were to be instructed 1n the exercise of ﬂtearma.»l'a3
Equally important to the home defenses, was the development
of related home industries., There waé:ﬁngofganizéd search
for natural resourses such asvsaltpetie;’and the manufacture
of gunpowder. and munitions was gredtlj encaufagéd;v‘the-iﬁcreasa
in copper and calmine mining allowed’éha‘productioh of bronze
cannon at home.m4

To further economic independance, a&ditional tréding come
panies were chartered, The Eastland Company, incorporated in

1579, established its headquarters in Elbing, Poland, and did
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much to enhance the Baltic and eastward trade, The Moscow
Company which had been organized in the 1550's, began in the *
1570's to expand into the Mediterranean and levant. In ‘
1581, . the Turkey cmany was incorporated, and the Venice .
Companj received its charter in 1583.;85

The most significant reforms in the realm of defense
were those which transformed the English navy from a coastal
defense force to an “oceansgoing fighting navy". These were .
engineeraed by Hawkins who enjoyed Burghley's backing.. From
| 1578 to 1587, the number of fighting ships increased only - -
by three, from twenty-two to twenty-£ive, But the older ships
were rebuilt and there was a significant change in their design.
They became longer 'and narrower in.proportion to their; length,
the: towering forecastles were removed, and the tonnage was -
feduced, thus making them faster, easier to handle, and more .
seawozthyi,.u’mbey were manned with guns enabling them to sink
ships at. longer;rrange, and their. figlié}.ng power was thus greatly
enhance&.;gé In addition to these iuétb#ements‘madé;on the
fighting ships, é‘.ighteenm ocaan~going pinﬁacles were added to
the nav&; and the reconstitution of the coastal beacons was
t':ampleteda"~87 The expensive task of improving . the Great . .
Yarmouth Harbor was -nndertaken,l %nd t:he;étrengthening of the
defenses. of the Thames vas begun.%lg;g%; - Furthermore, Hawkins -
succeeded ineliminatihg-cormptioﬁ and ;nefficiency and thus.
was able t;o,raduca expenditures on: tlig fleet to.£6,000 yearly -

as compared to 10,000 yearly in Henry VIII's reign. He also
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raised the wages of the Queen's seamen from six shillings to
ten shillings per m@nth.lgo That these various reforms proved
most effective was revealed by the significant naval victory

over the “"Invincible Armada" in 1588,
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CHAPTER IV: TOWARDS WAR (1580-1585)

It had indeed been fortunate that England had enjoyed the
benefits of peace snd had utilized the opportunity to strengthen
itself internally, For a series of “catastrophic changes; touched
off by a series of princely deaths™ indicated that England was
soon on the road to warst'fhe'first of ﬁhese, the death of the
young King Sebastian oflfortugalg oceurred in August of 1578;
at Alcazar. Ha was succeeded by his‘greatwuncle;fCaxdinal Hanr#,,
who lasted only until January 31, 1580. It was upon his Aeath
that there ensued a conflict in which Philip II of Spain and
Don' Antonio, illegitimate nephew of the deceased Cardinal,were
the main coﬁtescants.lgl

Blizabeth was not alone in realizing the increased danger
that might be afforded ber upon Pﬁilip*S'accessiongte the
Portugese thronme. Catherine was also draWn’tO'klizaﬁeth by
the realization of this mutual threéc;f'?hiiip'determined that
the best strategy to prevent their interference would be to
éneouragé other problems to océupy'thair attention. ' Thus he
proposed through Mendoza some possible joint Franco-Spanish
scheme on Mary Stuart's bahalf;lgz ‘The situation in Scotland
¢hanged dramatically in the course of the year 1579, however,
due to the intrigues of Esmé'Stuait;jSeigneut D'Aubingy, the

~ young cousin of James who represented the Guise faction,
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D'Aubingy,’soon ére#§ed Eér1f§£,Lenndé;;faéa rapiély and within
the year, due to the hésitati&; of Blizabeth to support Morton
with force, had sqccee&ed in overthrowing and imprisoning the
fegent;;gs Iﬁis»txansfprmatian bresehte&;qui:e a threat to
England and the Queen’s anxiety is reflected in the Privy Council's
Regiétex¢a Lord Huntingdon, president of the Northern Council,

was ordered to conferawith‘thefxuglish bor&er'wardenaﬁtovsecure

uniformity of action alangithe:border;%gé a supply of military

stores was sant;tp\htm;lgé Larézﬁnnéd¢n§ ubbn'returning to his
post at Berwick wﬁs_dispatchadta gum pf‘ss,cﬁosl?s-and'2;000~0, v‘
infantry and 500 caval:yrwera“digpatcﬁéﬁ1to thafbordar;}gz,r

There were cqﬁplaihts returned thac.aﬁditional:suppliestweié
needed at Ngwcastle,lggvand.chat of thg‘hoﬁses:nentvto'tha border,

199

cnly;thirty_weré_sé:viéeabla;.- :Evéniéﬁﬁiip:hEgan to fear the

&uisian.influencew#ndféé his ambassa%nr,nbﬁdoégiattempced.ta,
warn Elizabeth of thé.vrench-schemeziq §$ot1anﬂ;29°f*-¢=f ’ |
- ..Another Spanish schems intended‘ﬁb?di#grtlElizabéth'from:‘ s
interféting‘with:his Pcrtugue#e aspiﬁagiéhs;met with disaster:
Philip had somehow been¢¢onsidex1ng“léndgég'hisaupportsto,
James Fitzmsurice, and the Pope?axuuncio‘iu their plans.to
land 8 combination Spanish and Italian expedition in Ireland.
Philip rejected cﬁe‘role=o£-opeu inteivéﬁﬁionfbuticansented,to
aid the Pope in,def;aying'the exﬁenséa n£ the:expadgtion‘of "
8,000 men, launched from & Spanish fort under a Papal flag:

The purpose of the expediticn,was to aid Desmonds in holding
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the,cathblic Weé: against the English. Entries in the register
of the Privy Council reveal the great alarm that this news .. .
aroﬁséd;zol‘Cnptaiﬁ Thornton was dispatched in the. "Handmaid",
the only‘maufo£~war available, to defenﬁ.theﬂcoast.z??"Upan.'
xecéiving news of Fitzm#ﬁricé‘é'landingia: Smerwick, Dingle
Bay, the Privy Council ordered the following eﬁxergency meagufes
f&kéné“ 2 service of pOsts"from;Londqqxpu;Hilbra.waa,p:ganized;zoa
thejnaydfiof Bristol{was given”instructionsfcoeﬂand gunpowder. .

SR , 204 » ,
and lead to Waterford; ' stores of provisions were:collected

at Btiaioi;zos‘ the Western 1ev1e$bw§r§ called tq»duty;z°§~81ra"
John Perralt was summgnedfﬁo'camwand?a’squadron;ggz=anﬂambaggo:
was inforced on éhipping'at~CIQsté55aﬁd)L§verpocl;to provide
transportation for the leViEsggog“Franch;pirateépwntedéompissioned
to act as piléts a1uﬁg‘thé_Ir£sh ccast;QQQ Wales was.ordered to
sdpplj I,GGO‘mengzlév énd‘the Irish Lord treasurer;‘ﬂenry ﬁa116p,
wkévexteéded £10,000 c:editkzx%f‘The gctual invasion proved to
be a’fiaacd with almost all of the invaders being»kiiied at
Smerwick in November o£‘1580.212‘ The Council sent :letters to.
§ir William Burke and Lord Kildare of the Burkes, thanking
‘them for their part in the death of Fitzmagricegzla
Lord Desmond continued to lead -'the,,,,cergzdines in their
rebellion against the English, and an army was raised for the
purpbse of‘s*ppreasing it.z;é“'Lord Bgtler,'Lord Sussex, lord
leicester, Sir James Croft, and Dr. Wiison were membars of the
Committee formed to deal with the Irish.zls Immediately, .they

dispatched Sir William Winters to take charge of the squadron
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there.zl It took considerable effort to bring order to the
land as Lord Desmond and Saunders remained at large encouraging
rebellfon. Pelham and Ormonde were ravaging Munster in their

attempt to subdue it, the Pale was in ferment, and the situatiom

in Ulster remained unsettled.zw Continuous fighting in the

area between Kildafe and William Carrickfergus on behalf of the

English against the rebels, Tirlough and Lenough, brought famine
218
to the area. In June, Lord Grey de Welton became Lord Deputy

but he did not arrive in Ireland until August.'ng Rebellions
| 220
followed in the Pale in August, Two . thousand reiniorcmnts

were gent to the area at the requesc of the new Lord neputy, 221

but it was reported that many of these were inferior and

unqualified recruits who deserted from the fleet bafore reaching

222

Ireland, A Genoess loan was secured 801' the purpose of

supporting additional troops which were calle«! up in mrch.zzs
The Irish rebellion for which Philip had been a catalyst had
certainly served its purpose in diverihig Klizébeth.zz[’

Thus in 1581, when the Cortes recagnizad Philip's victory
and beatowed upon him the crown of Portugal, no doubt that he
felt he had achieved success. This greatly strengthened his
position in that he acquired control of the ?ortuguesé spice
trade, and the Royal Navy from which he fashioned his.
Spanish Indfan Cuard, almoat equalling the Royal £ledt of
Spain., It will be remembered that it was largely these
circumstances t}bich had caused klizabeth to renew the Anjoéf. :

courtship, and prompted him to come to Englanﬂ.rzzs
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‘The courtship probably served to irritate Philip, but he
expressed even gfeateﬁ' concern over the English actions regarding
Pon Antonio when he discovered that tha “rebel pratender™ to the
Portuguese throne was being sheltered and even honored at ’courmz
Mendoza, contiﬁu#lly harassed the ‘Queén-gbout her prwocativa )
and permissive gttitude which allowed Don Anﬁmio. with the ai&
of the london metchaxits, to put together & aquadron nfv‘znglish ,
ships with arms from the Tower to sail against his swereignezz 7
The strain betweeﬁ the two countries increased still ifur‘thet
when news of Drake's exceésive..ﬁeprednéim against the Spanish
reached uen‘dcaa;’ ‘He attacked the Queen ‘{dtementlyl. when he learned
of her effusive raceﬁstion of Drake;223

Mendoza's v‘indignat:_ion was such that he became actively
involved in promoting plots against t;li‘e‘ »Q’uean through various
agents who expressed 2 similay desi:égzz.gv ‘One such plot .
materialized in 1583, and Philip was‘::’h‘z,vi‘ﬁed once again to
consider the inva_sianrbf England. mis invitation cama in the
form of & plot devised by the Guiges and nendoza who contemplated
invading England via Scotland. Othefé iiwolv‘ed included the
Jesuits, Mary, and the Earls of Arundel and Northumberlsad., The
plot was named after Francis Throclunoxfi:dn;:whosa apprehension
in November and subsequent canfassioﬁé j:'évealed that Philip
in Saptember had declined to support‘.t:&‘e Guise plan which had

fallen :hrough.zgo Mendoza was ‘:hormhly’ 'canrproiniaéd ‘by
Throckmorton's confession, and his expulsion in January of 1584,

a step approaching a formal declaration of warsmarked the end of



=56~

any pretensions of amity. This clearly terminated the
peaceful efforts.?s;,tThere were those among Philip's advisors
 including Santa Cruz and Granvelle who in 1583, were advocating._
that he invade England fmmediately. He acceptzd Parma's advice,
howaver, and determined to complete the conquest of the Natherlands,
which would serve as his base of operations against Englaud.?az
The second event was the collapse of the United Netherlands
in January of 1579, which had resulted in the formation of two
rival unions. The Catholic Union of Arras, composed of the.
Walloon province of Artois and Hainaut,~conclﬁded peace with .
Spain five months later, tlms leaving the Rqrthern;praéinnea,
united in the Union of Utrecht;, to continue their struggle against
Spain alaneazss They also sufferedi the loss of additional
strength when Parma succeeded in convincing Rennenberg, the .
Catholie gtadholder of the North-east pﬁavincgs toylend.hia

forces to the royal csuse.234~ The most severe loss, however,

occurred on July 10:1*.,‘ sz;.’éh the assassination 0f the Prince of
Orange at Delft, The enemies of the revolt rejoiced for the
revolt itself seemed to be "personified in the Prince, his
ambition, its mainspring, his guidance indispensable”, but in
their belief that the revolt would collapse, they utterly mis~
calculated:tha‘situaticn.235

The third significant change occurred on May 31, 1584, in
the death of Anjou. The Catholic league, under the Cuise family,
expressed its determination to'prevent Hénry IV of Navarre

from assuming the French throne as it eagerly joined hands with
. Philip in the Treaty of Joinville. By this agreement, Philip
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promised them »SO»,O_G‘G crowns monthly to crush the ﬁugden’nt’:!s and
replace their King with his uncle, the Cardinal of Navarre "23§
ﬁ;&:is., relieved the anxiety regarding a possible ‘Anglo-French
coalition, that had for so lorgserved to deter f’hilip‘frdm -
dealing with England. “

- Elizabeth was understandably alermed upon hearing of tha
Treaty of Joinville, especially when leicester and Walsiﬁgbam
interpreted fitz to suggest the possibility of Spanish ’k:ontfol, .
not only of the Netherlands, bqt over France and all of Western
Europe from Ems on the Elbe to Gibraltar. She thus committed
herself, in the Treaty of Nomsuch, to a course of limited .
mtarvéntion in the Natherlands, rejecting Dutch sovereignty,
but promising to send a force of 5,000 footwsoldiers and
1,000 horsemen to be led by an Englishwan of the highest rank,
namely Ieicester, His departure in late 1585 _ﬁnaliy brought
the two antagonists face to face in thefiald.zg? - Philip's -
selzure of her cornskips in May of 1585, provided hef with a
legitimate excuse for her ovn maritime a;tivities.‘and Drake,
who was commissioned with a strong squadron to release the
ships and crews, was also given to understand that he was free
to engage in any other piratical activity if the opportunity
presented itself. Similadr ralding maneuvers by Sir Walter
Raleigh?s brother along the vNewfoundiand banks » When considered
with other warlike gestures, convinced Philip that he would now
have to fi:_cst deal with England before attempting the-ra&uction
of the Netherlands .238
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Zt: is irnnic that Philip and Biizabeth, both with a st:rcmg
"aversian to war, £ouna themselves in this poaition. ﬁnving
witnessed the alaw prccass. and the ulttmate failure of diplomacy,
the Spanish King, by the autumn of 1585 was drawn to the opinion :
that war wag, inavitahie.zég Philip now had to face a popular |
sevareign and a nation which vas imbued with & new aense of
power, a. realizatinn of potential pawer, and a detetmination
to decide its own £ata uithout foreign 1ntetvention.g§?‘123ts‘ '
Elizabeth was arcuse& by uhe thought of Philip's vengeance,

She had snccessfully defied. Philip for years and had praved
the master in the gama of diplamacy. Hbr immnnity had depended
upon Pﬁilip's invotvement in tha Natherlands and his distrust
of Franceﬁlvﬁeithe:xuns in a position‘to offer her aubstantial
assiatance now that Philip had determ&nad to use ditect force
to aubdua Englané once and for all, 1n.January of 1586, the
‘alteady 1mpatiant Santa Cruz was givan the spacific orders to
make preparationa for the axecutim of the. "ﬁnterprim of .
England™ by the Axmada.zélv

.- Now, the new ideas of bssing,Engiand‘# policy,apd defense
‘on ita 1nsu13ri£y,_feiﬁforced'by sea,#dwéf’vere_to be ges:ed,'
gnd with only the nominal support of tﬁe'butch rabe;é‘and‘tha
French Huguenots, Elizabeth had to face the challenge of Phillp
11, master of uuch’of Burope, During the period from 1567 to
1585, the policies which Elizabethvand her major advisor,
Burghley, instinctively pursued for the most part, proved sound.

They had continually played upon the various rivalries and
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jealousies of the Conmtinental glants, taking advantage of the
straing pwdnm& by the internal 61visim in the case of th&
French R&ligim Wars, amﬁ in t:ha Rawit of the Netherlmds,
They hed turned religious dissensions to gh;eir m,ﬁm:ﬁg&
am’:,mly in tmgm countries, but in Scotlend, and thus
succeeded in breaking the "Auld Allisnce”, and entictng the
Seots inte the Eaglish mxeﬁ“‘? Perhaps the foremost factor
in the successful mxgmnm paucy hed been the Queen's
deteraination to mid invelvmg gnglmxd in serious foreign
conflicty, This had secured Em;. Englend @ span of twelve
peaceful yaam%, unmarred by éeriwa domestic or foreign
struggles, mmg which time the natzim haﬂ been able to
trmtheu ﬂ:salf momicsny, r&ilit&rﬂy, mé palit:i:ally,
and thus prepare for the mpandiﬂg c&aﬂmta Elizabeth had
proven herself a master in the outworn game of diplomacy..
Philip was now to test her skill in the equally demanding
game of war, end the fate of Furops hung in the balmnca,
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